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Staff Report   
City of Manhattan Beach 

TO:  Honorable Mayor Montgomery and Members of the City Council 

THROUGH: David N. Carmany, City Manager 

FROM: Richard Gill, Director of Parks and Recreation 
Eve Kelso, Recreation Services Manager 

DATE: April 19, 2011 

SUBJECT: Consideration of a Citizen Request to Purchase and Install an Accessible   
                        Walkway on the Beach from the Bike Path to the Shoreline for People with  
                        Limited Mobility 

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends that the City Council discuss and provide direction regarding the citizen request 
(Attachment A) to install an accessible walkway on the beach from the bike path to the shoreline 
for people with limited mobility. 

FISCAL IMPLICATION: 

If approved, the initial capital costs for the purchase and installation of a Mobi-Mat are: 

South of 6th Street, 400 feet:  $32,042 

North of the pier, 400 feet: $32,042 

El Porto area, 300 feet: $24,144

Annual costs for daily installation and pick up of the Mobi-Mat: 

City staff:  $82,655-$109,500 (depending if overtime is needed) 

Landscape contractor:  $29,200-$54,750 (depending if overtime or supervisor is needed) 

The costs of an alternative to Mobi-Mat (permanent, cement walkway), including labor, are: 

South of 6th Street: $140,000- $180,000 

North of the pier: $140,000- $180,000 

El Porto area: $130,000- $170,000 

Other costs to consider with a cement walkway are potential annual repair costs due to the 
possibility of damage from County trucks or erosion from high surf. Daily sweeping may also be 
needed. The County is amenable to discussing sharing the cost of a permanent cement walkway.  A 
Coastal Development permit would likely be required. 
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Currently in the Capital Improvement Project (CIP) fund, there is no money available. In February, 
2011, all CIP funds were allocated to various projects over the next five years.

BACKGROUND:

Several years ago, resident, Ms. Evelyn Frey, wrote the attached letter (Attachment A) requesting 
the installation of a Mobi-Mat on the beach, to allow people with limited mobility and families 
with strollers, to get down to the shoreline. In her letter, Ms. Frey indicated that she was starting a 
campaign to make our beach accessible to the less physically able.  She discussed the difficulty for 
seniors to walk through the deep sand and get close to the ocean. Ms. Frey researched many 
options and believed that Mobi-Mat was a cost-effective and appropriate solution. Ms. Frey 
suggested the location just south of 6th Street for the placement of a Mobi-Mat because it is less 
crowded than other areas of the beach, had a level crossing area on the Strand and was a location 
that residents, and non residents alike, could enjoy.  In Ms. Frey’s request, she did not intend to 
have the mat placed near El Porto or the Pier and did not necessarily suggest that the mat meet 
ADA guidelines. 

The City Council placed this request on their 2008-09 Work Plan. Research was presented at the 
City Council meeting on September 2, 2008 about the Mobi-Mat and its uses around the country.  
When this issue was presented to City Council in September of 2008, the County who owns the 
beach would only permit the walkway to extend 50% of the way to the shoreline. Because of this, 
staff recommended not moving forward with the purchase and installation of the portable mat. Staff 
was concerned that installing the mat half way to the shoreline would not accomplish the goal of 
allowing seniors and those physically challenged to reach the shoreline. At the September 2, 2008 
meeting, Councilmember Aldinger indicated that the City should try and continue to work this out 
with the County Supervisor’s office. Mayor Mitch Ward sent a letter asking the County for 
suggestions of how to accomplish the goal of providing seniors and individuals with physical 
challenges with access to the shoreline (Attachment B). In response to Mayor Ward’s letter, 
Supervisor Don Knabe sent a letter (Attachment C) to Evelyn Frey stating that the Department of 
Beaches and Harbors would meet with City officials to work out the final details for placing the 
mat with minimal restrictions. 

Following the City Council meeting, the County agreed to meet with City staff to see if concerns of 
the County could be met. 

DISCUSSION:

City staff and County officials met several times, with one of the meetings being a demonstration 
of the Mobi-Mat on the beach.  The meetings were held to better understand the logistics of the 
installation and de-installation of the Mobi-Mat.

The following concerns were discussed by the County, and are included in the attached letter 
(Attachment D). In the letter from the Director of the Los Angeles County Department of Beaches 
and Harbors, it is stated that the County will support an accessible walkway, but would expect the 
City to take responsibility for the purchase, daily upkeep and management. The letter specifically 
states that the City would be responsible for: 

Purchase of the Mobi-Mat 

Placement on the beach of the Mobi-Mat every morning after 9 am and removal each night 

Liability and indemnity coverage of the County against third parties’ bodily harm and /or 
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property damage; and 

Maintenance and replacement of a damaged Mobi-Mat 

Staff is concerned with the County Department of Beaches and Harbors’ requirement to install and 
pick up the Mobi-Mat each day due to high costs. As stated in the Fiscal Implications section of 
this report, if City of Manhattan Beach employees complete this daily task, it will cost 
approximately $82,665/year, or if overtime is needed, the cost could be up to $109,500/year. If a 
landscape contractor is used for this daily project, the annual cost would start at $29,200 and if a 
supervisor or overtime costs were incurred, the cost could be up to $54,750/year. 

Even though the initial request for a portable walkway was suggested for people with limited 
mobility, the City’s and County’s responsibility is to consider all persons with disabilities when 
considering the purchase of a walkway. City and County staff believe that if a walkway is installed, 
it should comply with ADA and be located near one of the beach parking lots that is ADA 
compliant and accessible.   

The requested location is a concern to staff.  Ms. Frey recommends that the walkway be installed 
south of 6th Street.  Since there are no parking lots near 6th Street, and since the slope of the sand is 
greater in this area, staff believes there are two more suitable locations.  One of those locations is 
just north of the Pier, off of the north lower beach parking lot, and the other is the El Porto area 
near the El Porto parking lot.  Both of these areas have established disabled parking spaces, and 
they either have an existing disabled accessible ramp or the degree of slope on the beach complies 
with ADA standards. 

Additionally, City staff and County officials discussed the possibility of a more permanent solution 
for accessibility to the shoreline.  The possible solution is a concrete pathway that would take the 
daily abuse of the County’s maintenance trucks.  If this option is decided upon, staff recommends a 
10-12 foot wide concrete pathway. The downside of the permanent solution is the high cost 
estimated at $130,000- $180,000. 

It should also be noted that currently the County has a beach wheelchair program that allows 
people with disabilities to access the beach. The County owns two balloon tire wheelchairs located 
on Manhattan Beach, which can be checked out free of charge, seven days a week by contacting 
any ocean lifeguard. The lifeguard will deliver the balloon tire wheelchair to the location requested. 

Staff also believes there is a need for a citywide assessment and plan that addresses all of the ADA 
needs in the city, prior to making a commitment to the installation of a beach accessible walkway. 
Other than a few specific studies, the City has not looked at a comprehensive ADA accessibility 
plan for all of its public right-of-ways and facilities that prioritizes projects. 

If approved, the City Council would need to identify a funding source, and indicate the project in 
the City’s CIP. 

CONCLUSION:

Staff is concerned with the County’s mandate that the Mobi-Mat would have to be installed and 
picked up each day, as the costs for this operation are very high.  However, if City Council wishes 
to approve this with the daily installation and pick-up, then two issues will need to be addressed.
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What is the best location (staff recommends north of the Pier, off of the north lower beach parking 
lot or the El Porto area)? And, should it comply with ADA or be approved with the intent of the 
original request for people with limited mobility? Additionally, should the accessible walkway be 
portable or permanent? 

Attachments:  

A. Letter from Evelyn Frey (not dated) and other materials from Evelyn Frey 

B. Letter, dated June 8, 2010, from Mayor Ward to County Supervisor Don Knabe  

C. Letter, dated August 11, 2010, from County Supervisor Don Knabe to Ms. Evelyn Frey 

D. Letter, dated August 26, 2010, from Santos H. Kreimann, Director of L.A.County Beaches 
and Harbors 
















